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I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

 The Petitioner is DONALD GEORGE, IV, Defendant and 

Appellant in the case below. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Petitioner seeks review of the unpublished opinion of the 

Court of Appeals, Division 2, case number 54120-3-II, which was 

filed on May 25, 2021.  (Attached in Appendix)  The Court of 

Appeals affirmed the conviction entered against Petitioner in the 

Pierce County Superior Court. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the trial court err when it found that Donald George’s 
seizure was valid and based on reasonable and articulable 
suspicion that George was or had been engaged in criminal 
activity when the suspicion was based only on the officer’s 
fleeting glimpse of George as he ran away from the officer?   

 
2. Where the seizure of an individual based on mistaken 

identity will be upheld only if the officer had reasonable, 
articulable grounds to believe that the suspect is the 
intended arrestee, was the seizure of Donald George 
improper when it was based on the incorrect belief that he 
was a different individual who was a wanted felon, when that 
belief was based only on a fleeting glimpse of George from 
30 or 40 feet away as George was running away from the 
officer?  

 
3. Did the trial court deprive Donald George of his right to 

present a defense when it prohibited him from cross 
examining the arresting deputy regarding an incident in 
which he was found to have been not credible when 
testifying under oath in a different but similar case?   
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 The State charged Donald George with one count of second 

degree unlawful possession of a firearm, unlawful possession of a 

controlled substance, first degree burglary, possession of a stolen 

firearm, and second degree identity theft.  (CP 55-57)  The trial 

court denied George’s motion to suppress items discovered as a 

result of George’s seizure and detention.  (CP 5-14, 30-34, 35-40)  

The trial court dismissed the burglary charge after the State 

conceded that it did not have sufficient evidence to prove that 

George committed that crime.  (06/12/19 RP 251-53; CP 127-28)1  

The jury found George guilty of the remaining charges.  (CP 91-94; 

06/27/19 RP 344-45)  The trial court denied George’s request for a 

DOSA sentence, and imposed a standard range sentence totaling 

123 months in confinement.  (CP 19; 08/23/19 RP 384-85)   

George timely appealed.  (CP 129)  The Court of Appeals 

affirmed George’s conviction and sentence. 

 

                                                 
1 The transcripts will be referred to by the date of the proceeding contained 
therein. 
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B. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS 

 1. Facts from CrR 3.6 Hearing 

On March 14, 2018, Pierce County Sheriff’s Deputy Seth 

Huber was on duty and assigned to the department’s “crime 

suppression team.”  (05/30/19 RP 7)  The team engaged in 

“proactive policing,” and focused on “stolen vehicles, drugs, 

narcotics, wanted fugitives, [and] guns.”  (05/30/19 RP 7)  But just 

before 11:00 that morning, when Deputy Huber saw a car make a 

“hasty turn” after activating its turn signal for approximately 50 feet 

rather than the required 100 feet, he decided to instigate a traffic 

stop.  (05/30/19 RP 10, 23)  As the car was rolling to a stop, the 

passenger opened the door, jumped out, and began to run.  

(05/30/19 RP 11)  Deputy Huber found this behavior unusual.  

(05/30/19 RP 12)   

From about 30-40 feet away, Deputy Huber caught a “quick 

glimpse” of the passenger’s face for about one second, and thought 

he recognized him as an individual named John Ironnecklace.  

(05/30/19 RP 12-13)  Deputy Huber has had numerous contacts 

with Ironnecklace, and believed there was an active felony warrant 

for Ironnecklace’s arrest.  (05/30/19 RP 13, 26-27) 

Deputy Huber immediately ordered the passenger to stop 
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and, when he did not, began to chase him.  (05/30/19 RP 14)  As 

Deputy Huber closed the gap, he saw the passenger reach into his 

jacket pocket and begin to pull out a gun.  (05/30/19 RP14-15)  

When the passenger tripped and fell to the ground, Deputy Huber 

fell on top of him.  (05/30/19 RP 15)  The passenger then reached 

out and threw the gun away.  (05/30/19 RP 16)  According to 

Deputy Huber, at this point he still believed the passenger was 

Ironnecklace.  (05/30/19 RP 16)  But when he called the passenger 

“Johnny,” the passenger told him his name was Donald.  (05/30/19 

RP 18) 

A second unit arrived to assist, and Donald George was 

restrained and placed into the patrol car.  (05/30/19 RP 18)  The 

officers found the gun, and also found a baggie of pills, items of 

mail, and several credit cards on the ground where George had 

fallen.  (05/30/19 RP 19-20) 

Booking photographs of George and Ironnecklace were 

submitted for comparison.  (05/30/19 RP 21; Exhs. 2, 3)  Both men 

are of Native American dissent and have similar facial features, but 

Ironnecklace is nearly 20 years older and had tattoos on his neck.  

(05/30/19 RP 28, 29; Exhs. 2, 3)  Deputy Huber did not observe 

any tattoos on the neck of the passenger he chased.  (05/30/19 RP 
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29)  

2. Facts from Trial 

Deputy Huber testified that the gun George threw away was 

a loaded .38 caliber Taurus handgun.  (06/25/19 RP 189)  The 

baggie found on the ground contained 15 pills that Deputy Huber 

believed were Alprazolam, a controlled substance.  (06/25/19 RP 

206-08)  The found credit cards were issued to Luis Lopez-Hopkins 

and Kristie Lopez-Hopkins.  (06/25/19 RP 201-03)  The mail, 

including a letter from a bank containing a PIN number to activate 

one of the credit cards, was addressed to Kristie Lopez-Hopkins.  

(06/25/19 RP 203-05)  Deputy Huber also saw a large flat-screen 

television in the back seat of the car.  (06/25/19 RP 212) 

Forensic investigator Steven Mell test fired the gun and 

found it was operable.  (06/26/19 RP 265-67)  Forensic scientist 

Deborah Price tested the pills and confirmed that they were 

Alprazolam.  (06/26/19 RP 258, 260, 262) 

Kristie Lopez-Hopkins testified that she left for work between 

9:00 AM and 10:00 AM on March 14, 2018.  (06/25/19 RP 230, 

235)  When she returned home that evening, she discovered she 

had been burglarized.  (06/25/19 RP 230)  The burglars had taken 

her flat-screen television and a portable safe.  (06/25/19 RP 236)  
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She confirmed that the handgun, credit cards and mail belonged to 

her.  (06/25/19 RP 237-238)  Lopez-Hopkins testified that all of 

these items, including the credit cards and mail, were stored inside 

the safe, which always remained locked.  (06/25/19 RP 236, 237-

38) 

V. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES 

 The issues raised by George’s petition should be addressed 

by this Court because the Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with 

settled case law of the Court of Appeals, this Court and of the 

United State’s Supreme Court.  RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). 

A. GEORGE’S MOTION TO SUPPRESS SHOULD HAVE BEEN 

GRANTED BECAUSE DEPUTY HUBER’S DECISION TO SEIZE 

GEORGE MISTAKENLY THINKING HE WAS ANOTHER PERSON 

WAS NOT REASONABLE UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES. 
 
The trial court found that George was seized when Deputy 

Huber first ordered him to stop running and get on the ground.  (CP 

38)  The court concluded that this seizure was a valid Terry stop 

based on Deputy Huber’s reasonable belief that George was 

actually wanted felon John Ironnecklace.  (CP 39)  The Court of 

Appeals agreed, finding that “Huber had a reasonable, articulable 

suspicion that the fleeing passenger was Ironnecklace.”  (Opinion 

at 9)  Both courts were wrong because it is not reasonable to seize 



 7 

an individual based on a fleeting, distant glimpse of their face, when 

there are no other circumstances supporting the officer’s belief or 

confirming the identity of the individual. 

When reviewing the denial of a motion to suppress, this 

court reviews the trial court’s conclusions of law de novo.  State v. 

Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 214, 970 P.2d 722 (1999) (citing State v. 

Johnson, 128 Wn.2d 431, 443, 909 P.2d 293 (1996)).   

The federal constitution protects against unreasonable 

searches and seizures, and the Washington Constitution provides 

even broader protection against government intrusion into private 

affairs.  U.S. Const. amend. IV; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 7; State v. 

Morse, 156 Wn.2d 1, 9-15, 123 P.3d 832 (2005).  There is an 

exception to this general rule which permits an officer to briefly 

detain and question a person reasonably suspected of criminal 

activity.  Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 

(1968). 

An investigative detention is reasonable if a police officer 

can point to specific and articulable facts giving rise to a reasonable 

suspicion that the person stopped is, or is about to be, engaged in 

criminal activity.  State v. Armenta, 134 Wn.2d 1, 10, 948 P.2d 

1280 (1997) (citing State v. Gleason, 70 Wn. App. 13, 17, 851 P.2d 
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731 (1993)).  The reasonableness of the officer’s suspicion is 

determined by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer 

at the inception of the stop.  State v. Walker, 66 Wn. App. 622, 626, 

834 P.2d 41 (1992) (citing State v. Rowe, 63 Wn. App. 750, 753, 

822 P.2d 290 (1991)). 

In making an assessment of whether the officer’s suspicion 

was reasonable, the facts are judged against an objective standard; 

based on the facts available to the officer at the moment of the 

seizure, the officer’s action must seem appropriate to a reasonable 

person; simple good faith on the part of the officer is not enough.  

Terry, 392 U.S. at 21-22 (citing cf. Beck v. Ohio, 379 U.S. 89, 96-

97, 85 S. Ct. 223, 13 L. Ed. 2d 142 (1964), and Carroll v. United 

States, 267 U.S. 132, 45 S. Ct. 280, 69 L. Ed. 543 (1925)). 

In Sanders v. United States, the rule was first articulated that 

evidence is properly admissible against a person mistakenly 

arrested as long as arresting officers act in good faith and have 

reasonable, articulable grounds to believe that the suspect is the 

intended arrestee.  339 A.2d 373, 379 (D.C.App.1975).  The 

Sanders court found that the police had reasonable, articulable 

grounds to believe that the suspect was the intended arrestee 

where the names were nearly identical and the descriptions were 
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identical.  339 A.2d at 378 n. 4.   

In Hill v. California, the United States Supreme Court 

addressed the question of whether a mistaken arrest can support a 

search.  401 U.S. 797, 797, 91 S. Ct. 1106, 1108, 28 L. Ed. 2d 484 

(1971).  The officers had probable cause to arrest Hill as a robbery 

suspect.  When the officers went to Hill’s apartment, they found 

Miller, who matched Hill’s description.  Miller had an unconvincing 

story as to how he entered the apartment.  Thinking he was Hill, the 

officers arrested Miller and searched the apartment incident to the 

arrest.  Hill later moved to suppress the incriminating evidence, 

arguing that the police lacked probable cause to arrest Miller.  401 

U.S. at 798-800.  On these facts, the Supreme Court held that the 

officers’ mistake was reasonable. 401 U.S. at 799, 802-04. 

In State v. Smith, this Court addressed this issue in the 

context of a police stop in Seattle.  102 Wn.2d 449, 453, 688 P.2d 

146 (1984).  Two officers testified that there was a warrant to arrest 

Kevin Perrin, a 16-year-old white male, 5 feet 10 inches tall, 145 

pounds, with a tattoo on each hand.  They had a tip suggesting he 

might be in the area near First and Union in Seattle.  102 Wn.2d at 

451-52. 

Shortly thereafter, the officers stopped a 16-year-old male in 
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that area who fit the general description.  They frisk-searched him 

and found a weapon.  After the search, they checked his tattoos 

and made efforts to determine whether he was Kevin Perrin.  He 

was not.  Smith, 102 Wn.2d at 452. 

At the suppression hearing, the State argued that the search 

was legal on several grounds, including that the police had 

probable cause to arrest Smith based on the warrant for Perrin’s 

arrest.  According to the State, the search was valid as incident to 

that arrest.  Smith, 102 Wn.2d at 452 

The Court disagreed.  Citing Hill and Sanders, the Court 

recognized that evidence may be admitted against a mistakenly 

arrested person, “as long as the officers act in good faith and have 

reasonable, articulable grounds to believe that the suspect is the 

intended arrestee.”  Smith, 102 Wn.2d at 453-54.  However, the 

Court found that “[t]he mere fact that petitioner fit the description of 

a brown-haired, white male, 5 feet 10 inches tall, weighing 145 

pounds, is insufficient to meet the Sanders test of reasonable, 

articulable grounds to believe that the suspect is the intended 

arrestee.”  102 Wn.2d at 453-54 

In this case, Deputy Huber did not have reasonable, 

articulable grounds to believe that George was John Ironnecklace.  
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From 30-40 feet away, Deputy Huber briefly glimpsed George’s 

face.  George and Ironnecklace are both Native American, but 

George has no tattoos and is 20 years younger than Ironnecklace.  

The facts of this case are weaker than Hill, where the suspect was 

contacted inside the intended arrestee’s home, and weaker than 

Smith, where the suspect had reportedly been seen at the same 

intersection shortly before contact.  There is nothing here other 

than George’s resemblance to Ironnecklace. 

At most George loosely “fit the description” of Ironnecklace.  

But without any other facts or circumstances that could have 

supported Deputy Huber’s belief that the fleeing passenger was 

Ironnecklace, there was insufficient grounds to meet the Sanders 

and Smith test of reasonable, articulable grounds to believe that 

George was the intended arrestee.  Deputy Huber did not act 

reasonably when he seized George based on these facts. 

Because the seizure and detention were conducted without 

a reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity, all 

evidence obtained as a result of the contact should have been 

suppressed.  State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 4, 726 P.2d 445 

(1986) (citing Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S. Ct. 

407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963)).  George’s convictions must be 
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reversed. 

B. THE TRIAL COURT’S EXCLUSION OF IMPEACHMENT 

EVIDENCE DEPRIVED GEORGE OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL 

RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE. 
 
The trial court excluded evidence related to Deputy Huber’s 

credibility and ability to accurately and truthfully recall facts when 

testifying.  The Court of Appeals affirmed this decision, finding that 

the evidence was “not necessarily probative of Huber’s truthfulness 

as required under ER 608(b).” (Opinion at 12)  The exclusion of this 

evidence deprived George of his right to present a defense and 

therefore reversal is required. 

Criminal defendants have the constitutional right to present a 

defense and to confront their accusers.  Chambers v. Mississippi, 

410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); State 

v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); State v. 

Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 620, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002); U.S. Const. 

amend. V, VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. 1, § 22. Claimed violations of 

this right are reviewed de novo.  Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 719.  While 

the decision to exclude evidence is generally discretionary, that 

standard only applies if the court has correctly interpreted the 

evidence rules.  State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174, 163 P.3d 

786 (2007).  Moreover, a court necessarily abuses its discretion by 
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denying a criminal defendant's constitutional rights.  State v. 

Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280, 217 P.3d 768 (2009) (quoting State 

v. Perez, 137 Wn. App. 97, 105, 151 P.3d 249 (2007)). 

The primary and most important component of confrontation 

is the right to conduct a meaningful cross-examination of adverse 

witnesses.  State v. Foster, 135 Wn.2d 441, 456, 957 P.2d 712 

(1998).  This right also includes the right to impeach a prosecution 

witness with evidence of bias.  Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315-

18, 94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. Ed. 2d 347 (1974); State v. Johnson, 90 

Wn. App. 54, 69, 950 P.2d 981 (1998).  To secure this right, “[i]t is 

fundamental that a defendant charged with the commission of a 

crime should be given great latitude in the cross-examination of 

prosecuting witnesses to show motive or credibility.”  State v. 

Wilder, 4 Wn. App. 850, 854, 486 P.2d 319 (1971). 

These important due process protections may not be 

restricted based solely on procedural and evidentiary rules.  State 

v. Baird, 83 Wn. App. 477, 482, 922 P.2d 157, 160 (1996).  If the 

court believes defense evidence is barred by such rules, “the court 

must evaluate whether the interests served by the rule justify the 

limitation.”  Baird, 83 Wn. App. at 482 (citing Rock v. Arkansas, 483 

U.S. 44, 56, 107 S. Ct. 2704, 97 L. Ed. 2d 37 (1987)).  The 
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restriction on defense evidence must not be arbitrary or 

disproportionate to its purpose.  Baird, 83 Wn. App. at 482.  So long 

as the evidence is relevant, the jury must be permitted to hear it 

unless the State can show “‘the evidence is so prejudicial as to 

disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial.’”  Jones, 168 

Wn. 2d at 720 (quoting Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 622).  Relevant 

defense evidence is admissible unless the State can show a 

compelling interest to exclude it.  State v. Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15-

16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); Darden, 145 Wn.2d at 621. 

A person accused of a crime must be permitted to cross-

examine crucial State’s witnesses on issues affecting their 

credibility.  State v. McSorley, 128 Wn. App. 598, 613-14, 116 P.3d 

431 (2005).  ER 608(b) specifically permits that “specific instances 

of the conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or 

supporting the witness' credibility” may be inquired into on cross-

examination so long as they are probative of truthfulness or 

untruthfulness.  ER 608(b).  Precluding such cross examination is 

an abuse of discretion when the witness is essential and the 

excluded incident is the only available impeachment.  McSorley, 

128 Wn. App. at 611 (quoting State v. Clark, 143 Wn.2d 731, 24 

P.3d 1006 (2001)). 
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“‘It is well established that a criminal defendant is given extra 

latitude in cross-examination to show motive or credibility, 

especially when the particular prosecution witness is essential to 

the State’s case.”’  McSorley, 128 Wn. App. at 612-13 (quoting 

State v. York, 28 Wn. App. 33, 36-37, 621 P.2d 784 (1980)).  A 

defendant’s right to cross-examine witnesses is “‘fundamental”’ and 

any “‘diminution calls into question the integrity of the fact-finding 

process and requires the competing interests be closely 

examined.”’  McSorley, 128 Wn. App. at 613 (quoting York, 28 Wn. 

App. at 36-37). 

In York, the defendant was convicted of delivery of a 

controlled substance, primarily based upon the testimony of an 

undercover investigator who testified to buying from him.  28 Wn. 

App. at 34.  The trial court denied the defendant’s motion to elicit 

that the investigator had been fired from a previous position due to 

“irregularities in his paperwork procedures.”  28 Wn. App. at 34.  

Division Two reversed, finding that the investigator was the only 

witness to the sale and therefore his credibility was “the very 

essence of the defense.”  28 Wn. App. at 35-36.  It found that, as a 

matter of fundamental fairness, the defendant “should have been 

allowed to bring out the only negative characteristics of the one 
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most important witness against [the defendant].”  28 Wn. App. at 

37. 

Here, George sought to question Deputy Huber about his 

testimony in a different case where a traffic stop lead to an arrest.  

Deputy Huber testified at the hearing on the arrestee/defendant’s 

motion to suppress, and the sitting Judge found his testimony to be 

not credible.  (06/25/19 RP 146-47)  In her oral ruling granting the 

defense motion to suppress, the Judge had noted her “significant 

concerns about his credibility” due to conflicts and contradictions in 

his version of events.  (06/25/19 RP 148, 151)  George argued this 

incident was relevant to Deputy Huber’s credibility, memory, and 

ability to recall.  (06/25/19 RP 149, 153)  But the trial court found 

this was not admissible impeachment.  (06/25/19 RP 158-59) 

As in York, Deputy Huber was the most important witness 

against George, and the jury’s verdict hinged on whether it found 

him credible.  The fact that he had either falsely testified or been 

unable to accurately recall facts in another very similar case was 

the only negative information about him.  The evidence was 

admissible under ER 608(b) and the trial court’s limitation on the 

scope of George’s cross-examination was an abuse of discretion. 

 Violation of the right to confront witnesses is presumed 
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prejudicial error unless the State can prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict.  Johnson, 90 

Wn. App. at 69 (citing Davis, 415 U.S. at 318).  Without cross 

examination on this negative incident, as in York, George was 

unable to effectively challenge Deputy Huber’s credibility, and his 

argument to the jury that Deputy Huber was exaggerating or 

shading his testimony to justify the arrest and charges was less 

persuasive.  (06/26/19 RP 314-19, 325)  And the prosecutor was 

able to reasonably argue in closing that Deputy Huber was not 

making anything up.  (06/26/19 RP 329-30)  Given the centrality of 

Deputy Huber’s testimony to the charges, it is likely the verdict was 

affected by the denial of George’s right to impeach the State’s most 

essential witness.  George’s convictions should be reversed. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

 The trial court should have found that George’s seizure was 

unsupported by reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, and 

should have granted George’s motion to suppress.  The court also 

deprived George of his right to present a defense when it limited 

cross-examination of Deputy Huber.  This Court should accept 

review, and reverse George’s convictions. 
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   DATED: June 24, 2021 

      
   STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM, WSB #26436 
   Attorney for Petitioner Donald George, IV 
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APPENDIX 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 
 

DIVISION II 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 54120-3-II 
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 v. UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

  

DONALD GEORGE IV,   

  

    Appellant. 

 

 

 

 MAXA, P.J. – Donald George IV appeals his convictions of second degree unlawful 

possession of a firearm, possession of a stolen firearm, second degree identity theft, and unlawful 

possession of a controlled substance.  The convictions arose from an incident in which, during a 

traffic stop, George jumped out of a moving vehicle and ran away.  Based on a brief glimpse of 

the fleeing passenger, the deputy making the traffic stop believed that George was a different 

individual who had an outstanding felony warrant.  After apprehending George, the deputy 

learned that he was mistaken.  However, he found a gun, multiple credit cards, mail, and a bag of 

pills on the ground where George had fallen. 

 We hold that (1) the trial court did not err in denying George’s motion to suppress 

because the deputy had a reasonable, articulable suspicion that the fleeing passenger was the 

person subject to a warrant, (2) the trial court did not err in limiting George’s cross-examination 

of the deputy because the judge’s exclusion of his testimony in an earlier case was not 
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necessarily based on a finding that he was being untruthful, (3) there was sufficient evidence to 

support the identity theft conviction because the evidence supported a reasonable inference that 

George intended to commit a crime with the financial information he possessed, (4) George’s 

conviction of unlawful possession of a controlled substance must be vacated under State v. 

Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021), and (5) George’s SAG claims have been addressed 

by his appellate counsel and they have no merit. 

 Accordingly, we affirm George’s convictions of second degree unlawful possession of a 

firearm, possession of a stolen firearm, and second degree identity theft, but we reverse his 

conviction of unlawful possession of a controlled substance and remand for the trial court to 

vacate that conviction and for resentencing. 

FACTS 

The Incident 

 In March 2018, Kristie Lopez-Hopkins returned home from work to discover that her 

home had been burglarized.  Among other things, she was missing a portable, locked gun safe.  

The safe had contained a loaded handgun, a number of credit cards in her name and her former 

husband’s name, and a letter addressed to her that contained a credit card PIN number and the 

last four digits of an account number. 

 On the same day that Lopez-Hopkins’s home had been burglarized, Pierce County 

Sheriff’s Deputy Seth Huber activated his emergency lights to stop a car that had turned without 

signaling properly.  As the vehicle was coming to a stop but still was moving, a passenger later 

identified as George jumped out of the car and started running away. 

 Huber got a brief glimpse of the fleeing passenger’s face for approximately one second 

from 30 to 40 feet away.  He believed that this person was someone that he was familiar with, 
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John Ironnecklace, who had an outstanding felony warrant.  Huber had contacted and arrested 

Ironnecklace many times and was 100 percent sure that the person was Ironnecklace.  And Huber 

was actively looking for Ironnecklace because of the warrant. 

 Huber stopped his vehicle and chased after George while identifying himself as a police 

officer and ordering George to stop and get on the ground.  George refused to obey Huber’s 

commands and continued to run away.  Huber had closed the gap on George when he observed 

George reach into his jacket pocket for a gun.  George lost his footing and fell to the ground.  

Huber fell on top of him.  The chase lasted approximately four seconds and covered 50 to 60 

feet.  At that point, Huber still believed that the person he was chasing was Ironnecklace and he 

called him “Johnny” while they were on the ground. 

 George pushed up and back against Huber and threw a handgun about five to six feet 

away.  Huber eventually subdued him and placed him into handcuffs.  While taking George back 

to his police vehicle, Huber realized that he was not Ironnecklace. 

 Huber retrieved the loaded handgun from where George had thrown it.  He also found 10 

credit cards not in George’s name, a letter not addressed to George that stated a credit card PIN 

number and the last four digits of an account number, and a bag of pills where George and Huber 

landed on the ground.  The credit cards and mail belonged to Lopez-Hopkins and her former 

husband. 

 The State charged George with second degree unlawful possession of a firearm, unlawful 

possession of a controlled substance, first degree burglary, possession of a stolen firearm, and 

second degree identity theft. 
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CrR 3.6 Hearing 

 George filed a motion to suppress all items discovered as a result of his seizure and 

detention.  At the CrR 3.6 hearing, Huber testified about the events that occurred on the day of 

the incident and his strong belief that he was pursuing Ironnecklace, not George. 

Huber testified that Ironnecklace was a 44-year-old man with tattoos on his neck.  George 

was a 26-year-old man and had no visible tattoos.  According to Huber, both Ironnecklace and 

George had similar hair color, hair style, and skin tone.  Both men were Native American.  

Huber noted that George was a drug addict, which can cause a person to look older than his or 

her actual age. 

 The State also introduced George’s booking photos from the day of the seizure and arrest 

and Ironnecklace’s booking photos from five weeks earlier.  Huber testified that Ironnecklace’s 

booking photos accurately reflected what Ironnecklace looked like and who he believed he was 

pursuing on the day of the incident.  The trial court found that George and Ironnecklace appeared 

quite similar. 

 The trial court found Huber’s testimony to be credible, denied George’s motion to 

suppress, and entered findings of fact and conclusions of law.  The court concluded that George 

was seized for purposes of a Terry1 stop at the point where Huber identified himself as a police 

officer and ordered George to stop and to get on the ground.  The court also concluded that under 

the circumstances, Huber’s belief that he was pursuing Ironnecklace was reasonable and rose to 

the level of reasonable suspicion.  The court emphasized that Huber had to make a split second 

decision whether to chase the fleeing passenger, and he did not have time to “study his face, ears, 

hair, or tattoos, or to take any action from his vantage point to confirm his suspected 

                                                 
1 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968). 
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identification.”  Clerk’s Papers at 39.  As a result, the court concluded that Huber conducted a 

lawful Terry stop based on his mistaken belief that the person was Ironnecklace. 

 The court further determined that after Huber realized that George was not Ironnecklace, 

the Terry seizure remained justified to investigate George’s flight and the various items 

recovered at the scene. 

Jury Trial 

 The State filed a motion in limine to exclude evidence regarding an unrelated case in 

2014, in which the judge granted a motion to suppress Huber’s testimony.  In the 2014 case, 

Huber made inconsistent statements regarding a traffic stop that he conducted.  Although the 

judge excluded the testimony, she did not make a formal finding that Huber was not credible.  

George sought to introduce the 2014 judge’s ruling to impeach Huber and to attack his 

credibility.  The trial court reserved ruling on the State’s motion after it discussed in depth why 

the evidence likely could not be introduced for impeachment purposes.  The court stated that it 

would reconsider the issue if Huber’s credibility was brought into question. 

 At trial, Huber and Lopez-Hopkins testified to the events as described above.  George did 

not testify. 

 Both Huber’s attorney and George’s attorney asked Huber questions about 

inconsistencies relating to whether he or another officer who arrived at the scene actually located 

and recovered the credit cards, mail, and bag of pills.  Huber stated that he found the items, while 

the other officer’s police report stated that the other officer found them. 

 The State conceded that there was insufficient evidence to support the burglary charge 

and the trial court dismissed that charge.  The jury convicted George of second degree unlawful 
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possession of a firearm, possession of a stolen firearm, second degree identity theft, and unlawful 

possession of a controlled substance. 

The court determined that George’s offender score was 9+, based on multiple prior felony 

convictions and three current felony convictions.  One of the prior convictions was for attempted 

unlawful possession of a controlled substance.  The court sentenced George to the bottom of the 

standard range on possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen firearm convictions, to run 

consecutively, the bottom of the standard range on the possession of a controlled substance 

conviction, and the top of the standard range on the possession of a controlled substance and 

identity theft convictions. 

 George appeals his convictions. 

ANALYSIS 

A. MOTION TO SUPPRESS 

 George argues that the trial court should have granted his motion to suppress because it 

was unreasonable to seize him based on a fleeting, distant glimpse of his face absent any other 

facts or circumstances to support Huber’s belief that George was Ironnecklace.  We disagree. 

 1.     Standard of Review 

 When evaluating a denial of a motion to suppress evidence, we determine whether 

substantial evidence supports the trial court’s findings of fact and review de novo the trial court’s 

conclusions of law based on those findings.  State v. Tysyachuk, 13 Wn. App. 2d 35, 42, 461 

P.3d 403 (2020).  Evidence is substantial when it can persuade a fair-minded person of the truth 

of the stated premise.  Id.  Unchallenged findings of fact are treated as verities on appeal.  Id. 
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 In making a substantial evidence determination for a motion to suppress, we defer to the 

trial court’s evaluation of the persuasiveness of the evidence and resolution of any conflicting 

testimony.  Id. 

 2.     Legal Principles 

 The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of the 

Washington Constitution protect a person from warrantless seizures.  Tysyachuk, 13 Wn. App. 

2d at 43.  If a law enforcement officer seizes a person without a warrant, the State bears the 

burden of showing that the warrantless seizure falls within one of the carefully drawn exceptions 

to the warrant requirement.  Id. 

 One established exception is a brief investigative detention of a person, also known as a 

Terry stop.  State v. Weyand, 188 Wn.2d 804, 811, 399 P.3d 530 (2017).  Under this exception, 

an officer may briefly detain a person for questioning without a warrant if the officer has a 

reasonable suspicion based on specific and articulable facts that the person has been or is about 

to be engaged in criminal activity.  Id. 

 We look at the totality of the circumstances to determine the lawfulness of an 

investigative stop.  Tysyachuk, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 43.  This includes looking at the officer’s 

professional training and experience, the location of the stop, the conduct of the suspect detained, 

the officer’s purpose of the stop, and the extent of physical intrusion on the suspect’s liberty.  Id.  

The focus of the analysis is on what the officer knew at the inception of the stop.  Id.  Whether 

an officer had justification for a warrantless investigative stop or if the stop was unconstitutional 

is a question of law that we review de novo.  Tysyachuk, 13 Wn. App. 2d at 44. 

 In State v. Smith, the Supreme Court addressed the arrest of a person who officers 

thought was subject to an arrest warrant but turned out to be someone else.  102 Wn.2d 449, 451-
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52, 688 P.2d 146 (1984).  The court stated, “Where the warrant is constitutionally valid, the 

seizure of an individual other than the one against whom the warrant is outstanding is valid if the 

arresting officer (1) acts in good faith, and (2) has reasonable, articulable grounds to believe that 

the suspect is the intended arrestee.”  Id. at 453-54.  When there is doubt about the correct 

identity of the subject of the warrant, the officer must make immediate reasonable efforts to 

discover whether the warrant applied to the detained person.  Id. at 454. 

 In Smith, officers were on the lookout for a person described as a 16-year-old brown-

haired white male who was 5 feet 10 inches tall and weighed 145 pounds and had distinctive 

tattoos on his hands.  Id. at 451.  Officers saw a young person who met this general description, 

detained him, and searched him.  Id.  Only after the search did they check his hands and realize 

that he did not have the described tattoos, and they eventually determined that he was not the 

intended arrestee.  Id. at 452. 

 The court emphasized that the mere fact that the seized person matches a general physical 

description of the person subject to the arrest warrant does not meet the standard of reasonable, 

articulable grounds to believe that the suspect is the intended arrestee.  Id. at 454.  The court 

determined that the arrest was unlawful in part because the fact that both the suspect and the 

intended arrestee were white males with brown hair and similar heights and weights was not 

sufficient.  Id. at 454-55.  The court also noted that the officers made no attempt to verify the 

specific information about the intended arrestee’s tattoos before they made the arrest.  Id. at 454. 

 3.     Analysis 

 George argues that this case is like Smith because the only fact supporting Huber’s belief 

that George was Ironnecklace was that they fit the same general description.  He claims that the 
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facts of this case are even weaker than in Smith because although both George and Ironnecklace 

were Native American, George was 20 years younger and had no tattoos. 

 However, three key facts distinguish this case from Smith.  First, Huber did not pursue an 

individual who merely matched a general description of an unknown person who was subject to 

an arrest warrant.  He personally knew Ironnecklace and knew what Ironnecklace looked like.  

Based on that knowledge, he was 100 percent sure that the fleeing passenger was Ironnecklace.  

And in fact, the trial court made an unchallenged finding that the day of the incident George and 

Ironnecklace looked quite similar. 

 Second, unlike in Smith, Huber did not have time to verify whether or not the fleeing 

passenger really was Ironnecklace.  As the trial court pointed out, Huber had to make a split 

second decision whether to pursue the passenger who he believed had a warrant for his arrest. 

 Third, here the passenger attempted to run away in response to a routine traffic stop.  

Flight is one factor to consider when determining whether reasonable suspicion existed.  State v. 

Howerton, 187 Wn. App. 357, 375, 348 P.3d 781 (2015).  And although flight alone may not be 

sufficient to detain someone, the passenger’s actions provided at least some corroboration that 

the person was Ironnecklace and that he was fleeing because he was subject to an arrest warrant. 

 In addition, there is no question here that Huber acted in good faith, the first requirement 

in Smith.  The trial court made an unchallenged finding that Huber was 100 percent sure that the 

fleeing person was Ironnecklace, and Huber even called the person by Ironnecklace’s first name 

when he apprehended him. 

 We conclude that under the totality of the circumstances, Huber had a reasonable, 

articulable suspicion that the fleeing passenger was Ironnecklace.  The fact that he made a good 



No. 54120-3-II 

10 

faith mistake does not invalidate the detention.  Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not err 

in denying his suppression motion. 

B. EXCLUSION OF IMPEACHMENT EVIDENCE 

 George argues that he was deprived of his ability to present a defense because the trial 

court excluded evidence regarding the exclusion of Huber’s testimony in a prior case where a 

traffic stop had led to an arrest.  We disagree. 

 1.     Legal Principles 

 The confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 guarantee the 

right of a criminal defendant to present a defense and specifically to confront adverse witnesses 

through cross-examination.  State v. Lile, 188 Wn.2d 766, 781-82, 398 P.3d 1052 (2017).  But a 

criminal defendant does not have an absolute right of cross-examination.  Id. at 782.  This right is 

“limited by general considerations of relevance.”  State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 

1189 (2002).  A criminal defendant does not have a constitutional right to present irrelevant 

evidence.  State v. Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 352, 482 P.3d 913 (2021). 

 When evaluating if the excluded evidence violates the defendant’s constitutional right to 

present a defense, we weigh the State’s interest in excluding evidence against the defendant’s 

need for the information sought to be admitted.  State v. Arndt, 194 Wn.2d 784, 812, 453 P.3d 

696 (2019). 

 Under ER 401, evidence is relevant when it has “any tendency to make the existence of 

any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable 

than it would be without the evidence.”  Irrelevant evidence is not admissible.  ER 402. 

 Under ER 608(b), a party may – at the trial court’s discretion – cross-examine a witness 

regarding a specific instance of the witness’s prior conduct if the conduct is probative of the 
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witness’s truthfulness or untruthfulness.  When exercising its discretion under ER 608(b), “ ‘the 

trial court may consider whether the instance of misconduct is relevant to the witness’ veracity 

on the stand and whether it is germane or relevant to the issues presented at trial.’ ”  Lile, 188 

Wn.2d at 783 (quoting State v. O’Connor, 155 Wn.2d 335, 349, 119 P.3d 806 (2005)). 

 We review a trial court’s evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion.  Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 

797.  This standard also applies to a trial court’s limitation on the scope of cross-examination.  

State v. Lee, 188 Wn.2d 473, 486, 396 P.3d 316 (2017).  An abuse of discretion occurs when the 

trial court’s decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds or reason.  Id.  

However, we review de novo whether an evidentiary ruling violated the defendant’s right to 

present a defense.  Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 797-98. 

 “Violations of the rights to present a defense and to confront adverse witnesses at trial are 

subject to constitutional harmless error review.”  Orn, 197 Wn.2d at 359.  Under this standard, 

the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict would have been the same 

without the error.  Id. 

 2.     Analysis 

 At trial, George sought to introduce evidence regarding an unrelated case from 2014 in 

which the judge granted a motion to suppress Huber’s testimony based on factual discrepancies 

concerning a traffic stop that he conducted.  George stated that he planned to ask Huber a general 

question regarding whether or not his credibility ever before had been questioned by a judge. 

 In the 2014 motion to suppress, the judge found that Huber’s testimony about the driver 

and the traffic stop had inconsistencies.  The judge stated that she had concerns about his 

credibility based on these inconsistent statements in his testimony.  But the judge never made a 

specific finding that Huber was not credible or that there was any government misconduct.  And 
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there was no determination whether Huber lied in his previous testimony or whether he simply 

had faulty memory about the circumstances surrounding that specific traffic stop. 

 As a result, the judge’s 2014 ruling to suppress Huber’s testimony was not necessarily 

probative of Huber’s truthfulness as required under ER 608(b).  Inconsistent statements alone do 

not support the conclusion that Huber was being untruthful. 

 George relies on State v. York, 28 Wn. App. 33, 621 P.2d 784 (1980).  In that case, the 

court held that the trial court erred by preventing the defendant from attacking the credibility of 

an undercover investigator with unfavorable evidence of his previous undercover employment 

from which he later was dismissed.  Id. at 37.  The court stated that the trial court’s error was 

prejudicial because credibility was “the very essence of the defense” and “[t]he prosecution’s 

ability to argue there was nothing negative in [the witness’s] background may have been the 

single factor which caused the jury to believe him rather than the other witnesses.”  Id. at 35-36. 

 George argues that the trial court erred when it excluded the evidence relating to Huber’s 

prior testimony in 2014 because Huber was the most important witness who testified against him 

and that he could only attack Huber’s credibility with the excluded evidence.  But here, the 

proffered evidence had limited impeachment value because as stated above, exclusion of Huber’s 

previous testimony did not necessarily reflect untruthfulness.  Because of the ambiguous nature 

of the 2014 proceeding, we conclude that the trial court’s exclusion of this evidence was not an 

abuse of discretion because the evidence was irrelevant under ER 402 and was not probative of 

truthfulness under ER 608(b). 

 The question then is whether the State’s interest in excluding inadmissible evidence is 

outweighed by George’s need for the excluded evidence.  Arndt, 194 Wn.2d at 812.  In Arndt, 

the court found no violation of the right to present a defense when the defendant “was able to 
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present relevant evidence supporting her central defense theory.”  Id. at 814.  The situation here 

is similar.  George was able to cross-examine Huber about the alleged inconsistencies regarding 

who actually discovered the credit cards, mail, and drugs.  Specifically, George had the 

opportunity to highlight the fact that Huber believed that he picked up the credit cards, mail, and 

bag of pills from the ground, while the police report showed that another officer potentially 

picked them up instead.  This examination supported George’s theory that Huber’s testimony 

about what he found after detaining George was not credible. 

 Accordingly, we hold that the trial court did not err when it excluded evidence of Huber’s 

previous testimony in an unrelated case. 

C. SUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE – IDENTITY THEFT 

 George argues that the State failed to prove that he had the intent to commit second 

degree identity theft because the evidence showed only that he had possession of Lopez-

Hopkins’s credit cards and related mail.  We disagree. 

 1.     Standard of Review 

 When evaluating the sufficiency of evidence for a conviction, we view the evidence in 

the light most favorable to the State and ask whether a rational trier of fact could have found the 

elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.  State v. Homan, 181 Wn.2d 102, 105, 330 

P.3d 182 (2014).  As part of the test for the sufficiency of evidence, we assume the truth of the 

State’s evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence.  Id. at 106.  These 

inferences must be drawn in the State’s favor and strongly against the defendant.  Id.  And we 

defer to the fact finder’s resolution of conflicting testimony and evaluation of the evidence’s 

persuasiveness.  Id.  Circumstantial evidence is as equally reliable as direct evidence.  State v. 

Farnsworth, 185 Wn.2d 768, 775, 374 P.3d 1152 (2016). 
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 2.     Legal Principles 

 RCW 9.35.020(1) and (3) provide that a person, under circumstances that do not amount 

to first degree identity theft, may not “knowingly obtain, possess, use, or transfer a means of 

identification or financial information of another person . . . with the intent to commit . . . any 

crime.”  To convict, the State is not required to prove actual use of the financial information or 

the specific crime that the defendant intended to commit.  See State v. Fedorov, 181 Wn. App. 

187, 197-98, 324 P.3d 784 (2014) (specific crime); State v. Sells, 166 Wn. App. 918, 924, 271 

P.3d 952 (2012) (actual use). 

 When a crime includes possession and intent as separate elements, intent cannot be 

inferred from mere possession alone.  State v. Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 8, 309 P.3d 318 (2013).  

But evidence of possession alongside some slight corroborating evidence may be sufficient to 

infer intent.  Id.  Intent may only be deduced “ ‘if the defendant’s conduct and surrounding facts 

and circumstances plainly indicate such an intent as a matter of logical probability.’ ”  Id. 

(quoting State v. Woods, 63 Wn. App. 588, 591, 821 P.2d 1235 (1991)). 

 In Vasquez, the Supreme Court reversed a conviction for fraud because possession of 

forged identification cards alone was insufficient to prove the defendant had the intent to injure 

or defraud.  178 Wn.2d at 14-16.  In that case, a security guard stopped the defendant for 

shoplifting and found a fake social security and permanent resident cards with his name on them.  

Id. at 4.  The defendant willingly told the security guard that he purchased the forged cards from 

a friend.  Id. at 5.  The court determined that the defendant’s ready admission that the cards were 

forged was ambiguous at best and could not support the basis for inferring the necessary intent to 

defraud the security guard.  Id. at 15-16. 
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3.     Analysis  

 George does not challenge whether there is sufficient evidence to prove that he 

knowingly possessed another’s financial information.  The only question here is whether there is 

some corroborating evidence to infer that George intended to commit a crime with Lopez-

Hopkins’s financial information. 

 Here, the evidence is somewhat equivocal.  The fact that George was apprehended with 

the credit cards and a credit card activation letter along with the gun and the television on the 

same day as the items that were stolen from Lopez-Hopkins’s home could suggest that George 

had no intent to use the cards but just had not discarded them yet.  And there was no direct 

evidence that George intended to commit a crime with the cards.2 

 However, all that is needed to support an identity theft conviction is some slight 

corroborating evidence.  Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d at 8.  Here, two things corroborate George’s intent 

to commit a crime.  First, George had possession of 10 credit cards in the names of two different 

people – Lopez-Hopkins and her former husband.  This fact allows an inference that George 

intended to use the multiple cards unlawfully.  Second, the fact that George took and retained a 

letter containing activation information for one of the credit cards allows an inference that he 

intended to activate one of the cards and use it. 

 George also argues that there was no evidence that he or the burglar specifically targeted 

the credit cards and mail in the safe.  However, this argument fails because the identity theft 

statute does not limit its application to individuals who come into possession of another’s 

financial information as a result of a specific intent to steal that information.  And the State does 

                                                 
2 George cites and relies on an unpublished case from 2011.  However, under GR 14.1(a), parties 

can cite to unpublished opinions only if they were issued after March 1, 2013.  Therefore, we 

disregard that case. 
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not need to prove the specific crime that George intended to commit.  See Fedorov, 181 Wn. 

App. at 197-98. 

 We hold that the State presented sufficient evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that George intended to commit a crime with the financial information that he possessed. 

D. POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE 

 George argues in a supplemental brief that his conviction for possession of a controlled 

substance should be reversed and vacated under Blake.  The State concedes that this conviction 

should be vacated.  We reverse and remand for the trial court to vacate Banks’s conviction and 

for resentencing. 

 In Blake, the Supreme Court held that Washington’s strict liability drug possession 

statute, RCW 69.50.4013(1), violates state and federal due process clauses and therefore is void.  

197 Wn.2d at 195.  As a result, any conviction based on that statute is invalid.  See In re Pers. 

Restraint of Hinton, 152 Wn.2d 853, 857, 100 P.3d 801 (2004) (a judgment and sentence is 

invalid on its face when a defendant is convicted of a nonexistent crime).  And a conviction 

based on an unconstitutional statute must be vacated.  See State v. Carnahan, 130 Wn. App. 159, 

164, 122 P.3d 187 (2005) (vacating a conviction that was based on a statute that the Supreme 

Court held was unconstitutional).  Therefore, George’s conviction for unlawful possession of a 

controlled substance must be vacated. 

In addition, a conviction based on an unconstitutional statute cannot be considered in 

calculating the defendant’s offender score.  See State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 187-88, 713 

P.2d 719, 718 P.2d 796 (1986).  Therefore, George’s offender score must be amended to not 

include the vacated conviction and his prior conviction of attempted unlawful possession of a 

controlled substance. 
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Finally, without the current and prior unlawful possession of a controlled substance 

convictions, George’s offender score will be lower than the offender score the trial court used at 

sentencing.  The lower offender score could reduce the standard range sentences for his 

remaining convictions.  See RCW 9.94A.510.  Therefore, George is entitled to be resentenced. 

E. SAG CLAIMS 

 George makes a number of claims in his SAG that all are premised on the trial court’s 

preliminary statements that Huber’s testimony and the judge’s ruling from the 2014 motion to 

suppress was not proper impeachment evidence.  These claims have been addressed above or 

have no merit. 

 1.     Ineffective Assistance of Counsel 

 George asserts that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney (a) 

did not offer any exhibits or a copy of the transcript from the 2014 hearing, (b) failed to 

interview and call as a rebuttal witness the driver of the vehicle from which he jumped, and (c) 

failed to call the other officer who arrived at the scene as a witness.  As a result, George claims 

that his right to prepare a defense was violated.  We hold that these claims have no merit. 

         a.     Legal Principles 

 Ineffective assistance of counsel is a constitutional error that arises from the Sixth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington 

Constitution.  State v. Estes, 188 Wn.2d 450, 457, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017).  To prevail on an 

ineffective assistance claim, the defendant must show both that (1) defense counsel’s 

representation was deficient and (2) the defendant was prejudiced by the deficient representation.  

Id. at 457-58.  Representation is deficient if, after considering all the circumstances, it falls 

below an objective standard of reasonableness.  Id. at 458.  There is prejudice when there is a 
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reasonable probability that, except for counsel’s errors, the result of the proceeding would have 

been different.  Id. 

 We apply a strong presumption that defense counsel’s representation was reasonable.  Id.  

Counsel’s conduct is not deficient if it was based on what can be characterized as legitimate trial 

strategy or tactics.  Id.  Counsel’s decision whether to call a witness generally is presumed to be 

a matter of trial strategy or tactics.  State v. Weber, 137 Wn. App. 852, 858, 155 P.3d 947 (2007).  

This presumption can be rebutted by showing that the witness was not offered at trial because 

counsel failed to conduct appropriate investigations.  Id. 

 When addressing an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, we consider only facts 

contained in the record.  Estes, 188 Wn.2d at 467.  Specifically, we do not consider off-the-

record conversations between the defendant and defense counsel.  Id. 

         b.     Analysis 

 Regarding George’s claim that his attorney failed to offer any exhibits or a copy of the 

transcript from the 2014 hearing, the record shows that the trial court reviewed the 2014 hearing.  

The trial court there had the same material that the State provided to George.  Therefore, this 

claim fails. 

 Regarding George’s claim that his attorney should have interviewed and called the driver 

of the car as a witness, the record shows that the driver fled the scene at some point between 

George exiting the vehicle and Huber physically apprehending George.  Therefore, it is unclear 

how the driver could have contributed to George’s defense. 

 Regarding George’s claim that his attorney should have called the other officer who 

arrived at the scene as a witness, the record shows that he did not arrive until after Huber 

physically apprehended George.  Therefore, he would not have been able to testify about the 
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initial seizure and subsequent pursuit.  And George’s attorney highlighted the discrepancies 

between the officer’s police report and Huber’s testimony regarding who recovered the credit 

cards, mail, and bag of pills. 

 Finally, George claims that his attorney violated a number of rules of professional 

conduct.  But these claims depend on matters outside the record and as a result, we cannot 

consider them in this direct appeal.  Estes, 188 Wn.2d at 467. 

 2.     Confrontation Clause Violation 

 George argues that the trial court erred in limiting the scope of his cross-examination of 

Huber in violation of the confrontation clause because the proffered evidence was the only 

impeachment evidence in his case.  George’s appellate counsel already addressed this issue and 

accordingly, we do not need to separately address George’s argument here.  See State v. 

Thompson, 169 Wn. App. 436, 493, 290 P.3d 996 (2012).  And we reject this argument above. 

 3.     Cumulative Effect 

 George argues that the cumulative effect of his attorney’s failure to render effective 

assistance of counsel and the trial court’s error to limit the scope of his cross-examination of 

Huber resulted in a violation of his due process rights. 

 Under the cumulative error doctrine, the defendant bears the burden to show that the 

combined effect of multiple errors requires a new trial.  State v. Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 649, 389 

P.3d 462 (2017).  Here, George fails to show ineffective assistance of counsel or any error 

regarding Huber’s cross-examination.  Therefore, we hold that there is no cumulative error that 

warrants a new trial. 
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CONCLUSION 

 We affirm George’s convictions of second degree unlawful possession of a firearm, 

possession of a stolen firearm, and second degree identity theft, but we reverse his unlawful 

possession of a controlled substance conviction and remand for the trial court to vacate that 

conviction and for resentencing. 

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

  

 MAXA, P.J. 

We concur:  

  

CRUSER, J.  

VELJACIC, J.  

 

~,~J. __ 
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